
Federal Taxation

by Steven C. Evans*

Unlike previous years, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals decided
several substantive federal income tax cases during 1993.1 In addition,
the Eleventh Circuit also decided several procedural tax cases, several
cases under the Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974
("ERISA"),2 and several criminal tax cases. This Article reviews the
most significant substantive tax cases, procedural tax cases, and ERISA
cases decided by the Eleventh Circuit in 1993.

I. TAXABLE INCOME

Sections 511 and 512 of the Internal Revenue Code ("Code")s provide
for a tax on certain income of an otherwise tax-exempt organization if
such income is not substantially related to the organization's tax-exempt
purpose.4 During 1993, the Eleventh Circuit decided two cases relating
to such "unrelated business taxable income" ("UBTI").' Interestingly,
the Eleventh Circuit reached opposite conclusions in these cases.

A. Independent Insurance Agents of Huntsville, Inc. v. Commissioner

In Independent Insurance Agents of Huntsville, Inc. v. Commissioner,'
a business league of Madison County, Alabama insurance agencies and
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1. See, e.g., Steven C. Evans, Federal Taxation, 44 MERCER L. REV. 1233 (1993).
2. Pub. L. No. 93-406, 88 Stat. 832 (codified as amended at 29 U.S.C. §§ 1001-1461

(1988)).
3. I.R.C. §§ 511-12 (1988).
4. Id.
5. See infra text accompanying notes 6-39.
6. 998 F.2d 898 (11th Cir. 1993).
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licensed brokers and agents was formed and named the Independent
Insurance Agents of Huntsville, Inc. ("IIAH").7 The IIAH received a
determination from the Internal Revenue Service ("I.R.S.") that the
league qualified for tax-exempt treatment under Code Section 501(c)(6).'
The vast majority (99%) of IIAH's income consisted of commissions
generated by its members' sale of insurance coverage to public entities.
Each public entity in the Huntsville area had been assigned by an IIAH
committee to an individual member or agency. After the member
evaluated the insurance needs of the public entity and presented a
recommendation to the public entity, in most cases the public entity
agreed to purchase the recommended policy. The member and the IAH
then split the commissions on the policy with the IIAH receiving 40% to
60% of the proceeds.9

After audits of the 1985, 1986, and 1987 tax returns of the IIAH, the
I.R.S. issued notice of deficiencies to the IAH in the amounts of $21,655,
$25,642, and $32,764, claiming that the retained commissions constitut-
ed UBTI.' The IIAH challenged these deficiencies in the Tax Court,
and the Tax Court determined that the retained commissions constituted
UBTI.1"

On appeal, the Eleventh Circuit noted that an organization must both
be organized for tax-exempt purposes and demonstrate that it conducts
activities that entitle it to exemption. 2 The Eleventh Circuit pointed
out that IIAH's charter, bylaws, and exemption application were
altruistic in nature (not commercial), and contained no references to
insurance sales to public entities."3 The Eleventh Circuit then stated
that income received by a tax-exempt organization is UBTI if the activity
constitutes a trade or business, is regularly carried on, and is not
substantially related to the organization's tax-exempt purposes. 14 The
only issue on appeal was whether the third prong of this operational test
was satisfied. 5

The Eleventh Circuit then noted that, to determine whether IIAH's
public insurance activity was substantially related to its exempt

7. Id. at 899.
8. Id. (citing I.R.C. § 501(c)(6) (1988)).
9. Id. at 900.

10. Id.
11. Id. at 899.
12. Id. at 900.
13. Id. at 900-01.
14. Id. at 901 (citing United States v. American College of Physicians, 475 U.S. 834,

838-39 (1986); United States v. American Bar Endowment, 477 U.S. 105 (1986); I.R.C.
§§ 511(a), 512(a); Treas. Reg. § 1.513-1(a) (1988)).

15. Id.
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purposes, it must examine the relationship between the activities
generating the income and the accomplishment of IIAH's tax-exempt
purpose." The Eleventh Circuit stated that the conduct of IIAH
indicated that raising revenue was its primary concern.17 The Eleventh
Circuit noted that there was no evidence of any intention on behalf of
IIAH to use its public insurance activities to contribute to the improve-
ment of conditions in the insurance business or to insure that the public
entities received the best insurance protection at the best price in
accordance with IAH's stated purpose."8 Consequently, the Eleventh
Circuit agreed that the commissions earned by IIAH constituted
UBTI."9 The Eleventh Circuit also determined that IIAH was not
entitled to deduct its expenses under other sections of the Internal
Revenue Code.2°

In a dissent, Senior Circuit Judge Roney noted that IIAH had offered
testimony that its expertise made it possible for the public entities to
obtain and evaluate proposals when the entities themselves lacked the
resources to do so.2 The dissenter also noted that there was a great
deal of evidence that IIAH had tried to accomplish its tax-exempt
purpose.22 The dissenter stated that the test was not whether IIAH's
purposes had been accomplished, but whether the income was related to
its tax-exempt purpose.23 According to the dissenter, the failure of a
tax-exempt organization to accomplish its purpose does not necessarily
mean that the income received in connection with the purpose consti-
tutes UBTI.24

B. Atlanta Athletic Club v. Commissioner

In Atlanta Athletic Club v. Commissioner,' the I.R.S assessed a
deficiency of $658,063 against the Atlanta Athletic Club ("Club").26 The
Club is a private social organization that owns and operates recreational
facilities for members and their guests. It is exempt from federal income
tax as a social club." The Club had purchased 617.1 acres of land in

16. Id. at 902 (citing American College of Physicians, 475 U.S. at 834).
17. Id.
18. Id.
19. Id.
20. Id.
21. Id. at 904 (Roney, S.C.J., dissenting).
22. Id. at 903.
23. Id.
24. Id. at 904.
25. 980 F.2d 1409 (11th Cir. 1993).
26. Id. at 1411.
27. Id. at 1410.
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northern Fulton County, Georgia. The property was divided into an
eastern tract ("Eastside Property") and a western tract ("Westside
Property"). The Club developed the Eastside Property with golf courses,
a clubhouse, a swimming pool, and tennis courts. Little was done to the
Westside Property, but it was used for parking for a professional golf
tournament. The Club developed a pine bark jogging track and a lake
stocked with fish on the Westside Property.' The Westside Property
was also the site of a number of activities, including "pasture parties,"
Easter egg hunts, fishing tournaments, kite-flying contests, hot-air
balloon rides, and organized foot races. In addition, many members used
the area for jogging and some members used it for archery practice and
to fly model airplanes.2"

The Club sold two of the Westside Property's three tracts in 1984
resulting in a $2.3 million gain.8" The Club used the gain to construct
a new tennis center and renovate the clubhouse on the Eastside
Property. The Commissioner of Internal Revenue ("Commissioner")
determined that the entire $2.3 million gain must be recognized by the
Club as UBTI. 1 The Club petitioned the Tax Court to redetermine this
deficiency. The Tax Court ruled in favor of the Commissioner. 2

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that the Tax Court's determina-
tion of activities was factual and would not be overturned unless clearly
erroneous.33 The Eleventh Circuit stated that the use of the land, not
the intent of the land's use, was relevant in determining whether the
property had been used directly in the performance of the Club's exempt
function as defined by Section 512(a)(3)(D) of the Code. ' In reviewing
the record, the Eleventh Circuit noted that members participated in
"Turkey Trot" foot races, kite-flying contests, pasture parties, fishing
contests, and jogging on the Westside Property.' Although the Tax
Court found that the Club did not directly sponsor jogging by its
members, the Eleventh Circuit noted that jogging did not have to be
organized by the Club in order to be sponsored by it, and that the Club
had made the Westside Property available for jogging by its members.3"
Because the record contained no contradictory evidence of these uses, the
Eleventh Circuit determined that the Tax Court clearly erred in

28. Id.
29. Id. at 1411.
30. Id. at 1410.
31. Id. at 1411.
32. Id.
33. Id. (citing 26 U.S.C.A. § 7482(a) (1992)).
34. Id. at 1412 (citing I.R.C. § 512(a)(3)(D) (1988)).
35. Id. at 1412-13.
36. Id. at 1413.
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19941 FEDERAL TAXATION 1309

determining that no Club-sponsored events occurred on the Westside
Property."7 The Eleventh Circuit also determined that the legislative
history and cases cited by the Commissioner were not on point.38

Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the decision of the Tax
Court.39

II. TAX CREDITS

Taxpayers in Ford v. United States40 were partners in a partnership
formed to buy and rehabilitate a historic building.41 The taxpayers
acquired the building in 1980 and began rehabilitation in 1982.
Taxpayers expected the renovations to be completed within sixty months
of January 1, 1982.4' Taxpayers incurred qualified rehabilitation
expenses ("QREs") on the building beginning in 1982. Taxpayers
claimed income tax credits for the expenses incurred in 1982 and the
United States government claimed that taxpayers were not entitled to
the tax credits. The district court determined that the taxpayers were
entitled to a tax credit.'

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit stated that Code Section 46(a)(2)(F)-
(i)" allows a tax credit of twenty-five percent of the portion of a
property's basis attributable to QREs. 4' The Eleventh Circuit also
noted that, to qualify for the credit, a property had to be both certified
as a historical structure as defined in Code Section 48(g)(3)4" and
substantially rehabilitated as defined in Code Section 48(g)(1)(C). 47 A
building is treated as "substantially rehabilitated" under the statute only
if the QREs during the sixty-month period ending on the last day of the
taxable year exceed the adjusted basis of the building.' In this case,
the Eleventh Circuit noted that the sixty-month period was measured
backward from 1982 and, consequently, that the amount of QREs did not
exceed the adjusted basis of the building.49 Taxpayers contended that
the building was substantially rehabilitated because the projected

37. Id.
38. Id. at 1413-15.
39. Id. at 1415.
40. 989 F.2d 450 (11th Cir. 1993).
41. Id. at 451.
42. Id.
43. Id.
44. I.R.C. § 46(a)(2XF)(i) (1982).
45. 989 F.2d at 451.
46. Id. at 452 (citing I.R.C. § 48 (g)(3)).
47. Id. (citing I.R.C. § 48(g)(1XC)).
48. Itt
49. Id.
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expenditures for -the sixty-month period would eventually exceed their
adjusted basis," The Eleventh Circuit disagreed based on the unam-
biguous language of the statute.51

Alternatively, taxpayers argued that they were entitled to a qualified
progress expenditure under Code Section 46(d).52 The Eleventh Circuit
remanded this issue to the district court to determine whether taxpayers
timely and properly raised this theory in their refund claim.53 Taxpay-
ers also contended that the government should not have imposed a
penalty for substantial understatement of tax. The Eleventh Circuit also
remanded this issue to the district court. 5

III. TAX PROCEDURE

A Notice of Deficiency/Innocent Spouse

In Bokum v. Commissioner,' the I.R.S. issued taxpayers a notice of
deficiency disallowing a deduction relating to a limited partnership. Mr.
Bokum had purchased an interest in Special Quinta 1971 Drilling
Venture ("Special Quinta"), a limited partnership investing in oil, gas,
and mineral leases.5 6 The I.R.S. advised taxpayers that it was investi-
gating Special Quinta and asked taxpayers to waive the statute of
limitations. After taxpayers refused to execute a waiver, the I.R.S.
issued a notice of deficiency and taxpayers filed suit in the Tax Court
challenging the deficiency. The Tax Court determined that taxpayers
were liable for the additional tax.57 Taxpayers appealed on three
grounds: (1) that the I.R.S. failed to determine the alleged deficiency
because the I.R.S. had not audited the partnership return, (2) that the
I.R.S. was equitably estopped from contesting the return, and (3) that
Mrs. Bokum was an innocent spouse.5"

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that Code Section 6212(a)
provides that the I.R.S. must determine a deficiency before sending a
deficiency notice.59 Because the I.R.S. had not audited Special Quinta's
partnership return, taxpayers claimed that the Commissioner had failed

50. Id.
51. Id. at 453.
52. Id.
53. Id. at 453-54.
54. Id. at 454.
55. 992 F.2d 1136 (11th Cir. 1993).
56. Id. at 1138.
57. Id.
58. Id. at 1138-39.
59. Id. at 1139 (citing I.R.C. § 6212(a) (1988)).
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to determine their deficiency within the meaning of the statute.s The
Eleventh Circuit, however, noted that the deficiency notice plainly
indicated that the I.R.S. was disallowing the deduction relating to
Special Quinta and had recomputed taxpayers' liability using taxpayers'
tax rate.61 Consequently, the Eleventh Circuit determined that the
notice met the statutory requirements." The Eleventh Circuit distin-
guished a case cited by taxpayers because, in the applicable case, the
taxpayers were not partners in the partnership for which the I.R.S. was
disallowing the deduction, the I.R.S. had not examined the taxpayers'
tax return, and the I.R.S. had failed to use the applicable tax rate in
determining the tax liability.6"

Taxpayers next claimed that equitable estoppel precluded the I.R.S.
from pursuing a deficiency. Taxpayers received a notice in July 1984
stating that, because the I.R.S. was precluded from disallowing their
deduction in 1971, the I.R.S. was requesting that taxpayers withdraw
their protective claims to toll the statute of limitations for their 1973
and 1974 tax returns. Taxpayers withdrew these protective claims and,
as a result, lost their right to sue for refunds. The I.R.S. argued that the
Tax Court did not have jurisdiction concerning an equitable estoppel
claim."4

The Eleventh Circuit determined that the Tax Court had the power to
consider an equitable estoppel claim because, if the Tax Court lacked
such authority, taxpayers with equitable claims would no longer have a
choice of fora. 5 Because the Eleventh Circuit considered this an unfair
choice to taxpayers that would undermine the purpose of the Tax Court,
the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the Tax Court had jurisdiction over
equitable estoppel claims." Despite this fact, the Eleventh Circuit
concluded that taxpayers did not have an estoppel claim because they
did not, as a matter of law, rely to their detriment on the I.R.S. letter.7

The Eleventh Circuit noted that taxpayers maintained their right to seek
refunds regarding the 1973 and 1974 tax years for two years before they
waived their right for the I.R.S. to notify taxpayers of the disallowance
of their refund claims.6 The Eleventh Circuit also noted that taxpay-
ers were only waiving the technical requirement that the I.R.S. notify

60. Id.
61. Id.
62, Id.
63. Id. (citing Scar v. Commissioner, 814 F.2d 1363 (9th Cir. 1987)).
64. Id. at 1139-40.
65. Id. at 1140-41.
66. Id. at 1141.
67. Id.
68. Id.
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them of their disallowance and that the I.R.S.'s letter had no effect on
taxpayers' ability to pursue their claims for refund. 9 As a result, the
Eleventh Circuit determined that taxpayers had no equitable estoppel
claim.7"

Finally, taxpayers contended that Mrs. Bokum was an innocent
spouse.7 The Eleventh Circuit noted that one of the statutory require-
ments for an innocent spouse was a substantial understatement of tax
attributable to grossly erroneous items of one spouse.72 In this case,
the Eleventh Circuit agreed with the Tax Court's conclusion that there
was a good legal argument for allowing taxpayers' deductions.73

Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit determined that Mrs. Bokum was not
an innocent spouse. In a related case, Bokum v. Commissioner,75 the
Eleventh Circuit also addressed the innocent spouse argument advanced
by taxpayers." In this case, the Eleventh Circuit noted that both Mr.
and Mrs. Bokum were mistaken regarding the tax consequences of
another limited partnership.77 Because of the congressional intent to
protect one spouse from the other's financial deception, the Eleventh
Circuit noted that a mistake by both spouses does not constitute an
inequitable situation in which the innocent spouse defense should be
available.' Consequently, the Eleventh Circuit rejected taxpayers'
argument.

79

In Tavano v. Commissioner,' a pro se taxpayer challenged a notice
of deficiency because the notice did not contain a signature, stamp, or
seal of the Commissioner or of a representative of the Commissioner."1
The Eleventh Circuit noted that the Internal Revenue Code does not
require a notice of deficiency to be signed. 2 Instead, the notice of
deficiency is designed to advise the taxpayer that the Commissioner

69. Id. at 1141-42.
70. Id.
71. Id. at 1142.
72. Id. (citing I.R.C. § 6013(e)(1XB) (1988)).
73. Id.
74. Id. at 1142-43.
75. 992 F.2d 1132 (11th Cir. 1993).
76. Id. at 1133-35.
77. Id. at 1134.
78. Id. at 1134-35.
79. Id. at 1135.
80. 986 F.2d 1389 (11th Cir. 1993).
81. Id. at 1390.
82. Id. (citing Urban v. Commissioner, 964 F.2d 888,889(9th Cir. 1992); Commissioner

v. Oswego Falls Corp., 71 F.2d 673, 677 (2d Cir. 1934)).
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intends to assess the taxpayer.83 Consequently, the Eleventh Circuit
summarily dismissed taxpayer's appeal."

B. Right of Set-Off

Plaintiff in Bosarge v. United States Department of Education'
defaulted on a loan he incurred to attend the United States Training
Academy. The Higher Education Assistance Foundation ("HEAF")
guaranteed the loan. HEAF entered into a reinsurance agreement with
the United States Department of Education ("DOE")." The I.R.S. owed
plaintiff a refund on his 1990 federal income tax return of $1,225.87,
which he claimed was exempt from debt collectors under Alabama state
law. 7 After HEAF certified and assigned the loan to the DOE, the
I.R.S. applied plaintiff's refund toward the repayment of his student
loan.' Plaintiff then filed suit in the district court seeking an
injunction to prevent the offset procedure.89 The district court awarded
a judgment to plaintiff against DOE for the amount of the refund.'

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that the issue involved was a
matter of law and thus reviewed de novo.91 The Eleventh Circuit also
noted that there were three sets of laws involved in the offset issue: (1)
Code Section 3720A(b)(2), (2) the Federal Debt Collection Procedures Act
("FDCPA"), and (3) Alabama state law." The Eleventh Circuit noted
that the FDCPA recognized state law exemptions for debit collection
while the federal tax refund offset statute did not.93 Although the
district court determined that the federal tax refund offset statute was
controlling because it was the most recent of two conflicting federal
statutes, the Eleventh Circuit concluded that the two statutes did not
conflict because the FDCPA expressly disclaimed any intent to modify
or supersede statutory rights to set-off. Although the Eleventh
Circuit agreed that the federal tax refund offset statute conflicted with
Alabama state law, the Eleventh Circuit noted that the federal law

83. Id. (citing Olsen v. Helvering, 88 F.2d 650, 651 (2d Cir. 1937)).
84. Id.
85. 5 F.3d 1414 (11th Cir. 1993).
86. Id. at 1415.
87. Id. at 1415-16.
88. Id. at 1416.
89. Id.
90. Id.
91, Id. at 1417 (citing Vernon v. FDIC, 981 F.2d 1230, 1232 (11th Cir. 1993)).
92. Id. at 1417-18 (citing 31 U.S.C. § 3720A (b)(2); 28 U.S.C. §§ 3001-3308 (Supp. III

1991); ALA. CODE § 6-10-6 (1975)).
93. Id. at 1418.
94. Id. at 1419.
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preempted the Alabama state statutes.95 The Eleventh Circuit also
dismissed plaintiff's argument for a fairness exception to the statute
because, in the Eleventh Circuit's opinion, the federal government's
recovery of defaulted student loan payments is a matter of public
importance.9 6 Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit reversed the district
court.97

C. Partnership Litigation Procedures

Taxpayers in Beard v. United States98 were the only shareholders in
Alabama Home Health Care Services ("Alacare"), a Subchapter S
corporation for federal income tax purposes.9 After the I.R.S. audited
Alacare's 1983 and 1984 tax returns, each shareholder paid the
additional taxes asserted by the I.R.S. and filed individual claims for
refunds with the I.R.S. The district court concluded that it lacked
subject matter jurisdiction to entertain taxpayers' actions because
taxpayers were required to challenge the I.R.S. adjustments in one
unified proceeding instead of separate refund lawsuits (despite the fact
that the district court had consolidated taxpayer's actions).'

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that the issue involved was a
construction of law that would be reviewed de novo. 1' 0 The Eleventh
Circuit also noted that the Subchapter S Revision Act of 1982 ("SS-
RA)"')2 required partners in partnerships to contest adjustments made
by the I.R.S. in a single proceeding unless the partnership had ten or
fewer partners.0 3 The Eleventh Circuit also noted, however, that the
SSRA did not expressly exclude shareholders and Subchapter S
corporations from this requirement.' 4 The Eleventh Circuit noted
that the Secretary of the Treasury had promulgated a temporary
regulation extending this exclusion to Subchapter S corporations with
five or fewer shareholders, but only to S corporations whose returns were
due before January 30, 1987.105 The Eleventh Circuit concluded that
the Secretary's prospective application of these regulations was not an

95. Id.
96. Id. at 1420.
97. Id.
98. 992 F.2d 1516 (11th Cir. 1993).
99. Id. at 1517.

100. Id. at 1518.
101. Id.
102. Pub. L. No. 97-354, 96 Stat. 1669 (codified as amended at 26 U.S.C. §§ 6241-45

(1988)).
103. 992 F.2d at 1519.
104. Id. at 1520.
105. Id.
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abuse of his broad discretion provided under Code Section 7805(b)." 6

The Eleventh Circuit also found two judicial opinions cited by taxpayers
inapplicable and, consequently, upheld the district court's dismissal of
their refund actions for lack of jurisdiction.07

IV ERISA

The Eleventh Circuit decided several significant cases arising under
ERISA during 1993. The most important cases are discussed below.

A. Reduction in Health Care Benefits

Plaintiff in Owens v. Storehouse, Inc.108 sued his former employer,
Storehouse, Inc. ("Storehouse"), claiming that Storehouse's modification
of its employee health plan to include a lifetime benefits cap of $25,000
for claims related to Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome ("AIDS")
violated Section 510 of ERISA.' °9 Plaintiff Owens was diagnosed with
AIDS in November 1988. Because five of Storehouse's 160 employees
had been diagnosed with AIDS, Storehouse found that its insurance
costs were going to increase dramatically.110 Accordingly, storehouse
decided to reduce lifetime benefits for all AIDS-related medical claims
to $25,000. The Storehouse health plan provided that Storehouse had
the full, absolute, and discretionary right to amend or modify the plan
in whole or in part at any time. Owens filed suit in federal district court
alleging that Storehouse's modification of the plan violated ERISA.
During the course of discovery, Owens died and another employee,
Beavers, was substituted as plaintiff.1 The district court granted
summary judgment to Storehouse.

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that Section 510 of ERISA
prohibits discrimination against any plan member for exercising the
member's right to benefits. 2 The Eleventh Circuit noted that ERISA
does not prohibit a company from terminating previously offered benefits
that are not vested or accrued.' 13 Although plaintiff argued that
Section 510 contained a late vesting requirement for insurance programs

106. Id. at 1522 (citing 26 U.S.C. § 7805(b) (1988)).
107. Id. at 1522-23.
108. 984 F.2d 394 (11th Cir. 1993).
109. Id. at 396 (citing 29 U.S.C. § 1140 (1988)).
110. Id.
111. Id. at 396-97.
112. Id. at 397.
113. Id. at 397-98 (citing 29 U.S.C. § 1051(1) (1988); Vasseur v. Halliburton Co., 950

F.2d 1002, 1006 (5th Cir. 1992); Hozier v. Midwest Fasteners, Inc., 908 F.2d 1155, 1160 (3d
Cir. 1990)).
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once a particular illness had been contracted by a participant, the
Eleventh Circuit noted that Section 510 contained no such express
requirement.14 The Eleventh Circuit also noted that there was no
specific intent by Storehouse to violate ERISA because it was uncontro-
verted that Storehouse acted to reduce plan costs at a time of financial
hardship, which would otherwise render it unable to secure health
coverage for its employees." 5  Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit
affirmed the district court's grant of summary judgment. 16  It is
important to note, however, that the case arose prior to the enactment
of the Americans With Disabilities Act ("ADA")."7 Under the ADA,
limitations based upon specific illnesses may not be legal."

B. Definition of Employee Under ERISA

Plaintiff in Seaman v. Arvida Realty Sales"" sued her employer
alleging that the employer classified her as an independent contractor
in order to eliminate the cost of her health insurance coverage and
retirement plan contributions.' ° Plaintiff, Patricia Seaman, claimed
her employer, Arvida Realty Sales ("Arvida"), terminated her when she
refused to accept a change in status from employee to independent
contractor.12 1  Seaman claimed that this reclassification violated
Section 510 of ERISA.'22 Because the district court determined that
Seaman's entitlement to health insurance and retirement benefits was
not vested or accrued, the district court concluded that ERISA did not
prohibit the elimination of these benefits."s Accordingly, the district
court dismissed plaintiff's ERISA claims."

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that Section 510 prohibits an
employer from discharging employees to prevent them from taking
advantage of benefits even if those benefits are not yet vested.125 The
Eleventh Circuit distinguished several cases cited by Arvida because the

114. Id. at 398 (citing Musto v. American Gen. Corp., 861 F.2d 897, 901 n.2 (6th Cir.
1988), cert. denied, 490 U.S. 1020 (1989)).

115. Id. at 399.
116. Id. at 400.
117. Pub. L. No. 101-336, 104 Stat. 327 (codified as amended at 42 U.S.C. § 12101-

12113 (1988)).
118. See, e.g., 42 U.S.C. § 12112(a) (1988).
119. 985 F.2d 543 (11th Cir.), cert. denied, 114 S. Ct. 308 (1993).
120. 985 F.2d at 544.
121. Id.
122. Id. at 54445 (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 1140 (1988)).
123. Id.
124. Id. at 545.
125. Id.
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cited cases all concerned situations in which an employer was reducing
or terminating nonvested benefits by changing the terms of a plan. 2 "
Consequently, the Eleventh Circuit stated that employers may not
discharge employees to avoid paying benefits, but may reduce or
terminate plan benefits by changing the terms of plans. 127

In the instant case, the Eleventh Circuit noted that Arvida was
terminating its sales persons unless they agreed to become independent
contractors." The sales persons would be performing the same job as
they were previously performing, but would become ineligible to receive
the benefits previously offered to them as employees. The Eleventh
Circuit noted that Arvida terminated plaintiff for declining to work
without the benefits she previously enjoyed.' 9 The Eleventh Circuit
concluded that, if true, these allegations fell within the exact language
of Section 510 of ERISA.'30 Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit reversed
the district court's grant of summary judgment. 131

Plaintiff in Daughtrey v. Honeywell, Inc. 2 also sued her former
employer under Section 510 of ERISA."' Plaintiff Daughtrey claimed
(1) that she was entitled to employee benefits even though she had
entered into a consulting agreement, (2) that she was entitled to a
penalty under ERISA because her employer failed to provide her with a
benefits statement, and (3) that her termination had been in violation
of the Age Discrimination in Employment Act ("ADEA").' Daughtrey
had been directly employed by Honeywell from 1979 to 1986. From 1986
to 1988 she worked as a consultant for Honeywell pursuant to the terms
of a consulting agreement. In 1988 Honeywell terminated her services
as a consultant.3 5

On appeal the Eleventh Circuit noted that Honeywell presented
affidavits by its employees stating that the layoffs in 1986 were
motivated only by an attempt to reduce operating costs. 36 Daughtrey
presented no evidence to refute these affidavits. As a result, the
Eleventh Circuit concluded that Daughtrey failed to prove that

126. Id. at 546.
127. Id.
128. Id. at 547.
129. Id.
130. Id.
131. Id.
132. 3 F.3d 1488 (11th Cir. 1993).
133. Id. at 1490-91.
134. Id. (citing Pub. L. No. 97-22, 95 Stat. 1050, codified as amended at 29 U.S.C.

§ 621-31 (1988)).
135. Id. at 1490.
136. Id. at 1492.
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Honeywell terminated her to preclude her from receiving employee
benefits.137 Accordingly, the Eleventh Circuit affirmed the district
court's grant of summary judgment on this claim.13

With respect to Daughtrey's claim for employee benefits for the period
from 1986 to 1988, while she worked as a consultant, the Eleventh
Circuit reiterated the traditional agency law criteria for distinguishing
employment relationships from independent contractor relationships.139

The district court had relied heavily upon the terms of the consultant
agreement, which expressly stated that Daughtrey was an independent
contractor and, consequently, was not entitled to Honeywell's employee
benefits. 4" The Eleventh Circuit noted, however, that the actual
characterization of the relationship depended on the facts of the
relationship and not just the label used by the parties in their con-
tract.1 ' Consequently, the Eleventh Circuit remanded this claim to
the district court for a decision regarding the relationship.'42

The Eleventh Circuit also noted that Daughtrey had requested a
benefits statement from Honeywell that was not provided for twelve
months after her request. 43 Under ERISA a penalty of up to $100 per
day for punitive purposes can be assessed for failure to provide this
statement.'" Although the district court had dismissed Daughtrey's
claim for a penalty because she failed to show any prejudice by not
receiving the statement, the Eleventh Circuit noted that the mere
absence of bad faith does not exonerate the failure to provide a timely
statement and that the delay in this case was unexplained.' Accord-
ingly, the Eleventh Circuit remanded this claim to the district court for
a determination of the appropriate penalty.46

The Eleventh Circuit also noted that the district court dismissed
Daughtrey's ADEA claim because of its conclusion that Daughtrey was
an independent contractor. 4 7 In light of the dispute regarding the
facts of Daughtrey's employment relationship, however, the Eleventh
Circuit remanded the ADEA claim to the district court for determination

137. Id.
138. Id.
139. Id. (quoting Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Darden, 112 S. Ct. 1344, 1346 (1992)).
140. Id. at 1492-93.
141. Id.
142. Id. at 1493.
143. Id. at 1494.
144, Id. (citing 29 U.S.C. § 1132(c) (1988)).
145. Id. at 1494-95.
146. Id. at 1495.
147. Id.

1318 [Vol. 45



FEDERAL TAXATION

whether her relationship constituted an employment relationship or an
independent contractor relationship. 14

C. Equitable Estoppel

Plaintiff in Novak v. Irwin Yacht & Marine Corp. 4" had been
employed by Irwin Yacht and Marine Corporation ("Irwin") for several
years. In 1989 Irwin began providing its employees with health
insurance coverage through CIGNA Healthplan of Florida ("CIGNA").
Plaintiff Joseph M. Novak left employment with Irwin but elected to
continue his participation in the health plan pursuant to the provisions
of the Consolidated Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1986.150 In May
1989, Novak went to a hospital emergency room complaining of chest
pains. The hospital contacted CIGNA, which authorized Novak's
admittance to the emergency room. On May 22, 1989, Novak underwent
gall bladder surgery for which the hospital also received authorization
from CIGNA. After Novak incurred medical bills totalling $15,672.69,
CIGNA refused to pay, claiming that Irwin had cancelled the policy
effective April 30, 1989.1'5 The district court granted summary
judgment for CIGNA and Novak appealed. 152

Because there were no material issues of fact, the Eleventh Circuit
reviewed the issues as a matter of law under a de novo standard.6 3

Novak asserted that only CIGNA had the right to terminate the policy
and that it did not do so until June 1, 1989, the date it received a letter
from Irwin cancelling the policy. This occurred after Novak had his
operation. CIGNA argued that, under the language of the policy, the
termination was retroactive to April 30, 1989. In the alternative, Novak
argued that equitable estoppel should prevent CIGNA from denying
payment because CIGNA confirmed to the hospital that he was covered
under the policy and then later refused to cover the expenses. 154

The Eleventh Circuit noted that the policy expressly gave CIGNA the
right to terminate the policy without notice retroactive to the last day of
the period for which payments had been made.' Consequently, the
Eleventh Circuit determined that CIGNA could cancel the policy

148. Id. at 1495-96.
149. 986 F.2d 468 (11th Cir. 1993).
150. Id. at 469 (citing Pub. L. No. 99-272, 100 Stat. 82 (1986)).
151. Id. at 469-70.
152. Id. at 470.
153. Id. (citing Woodruff v. United States Dep't of Labor, 954 F.2d 634 (11th Cir.

1992)).
154. Id. at 470-71.
155. Id. at 471.
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retroactive to April 30, 1989.'I The district court also determined that
equitable estoppel does not apply because ERISA's preclusion of oral
modifications allows equitable estoppel to apply only to ambiguous
provisions of an employee benefit."5 7 The Eleventh Circuit concluded
that CIGNA's confirmation and authorization of medical expenses for
Novak were not an interpretation of an ambiguous policy provision, but
only oral modifications of an unambiguous plan provision for which
equitable estoppel was not available. 6" Consequently, the Eleventh
Circuit affirmed the district court's grant of summary judgment.'59

V. CONCLUSION

Because the substantive tax cases decided by the Eleventh Circuit in
1993 are not extremely significant to tax practitioners, the ERISA cases
decided by the Eleventh Circuit continue to show the importance of
ERISA to tax practitioners.

156. Id. at 471-72.
157. Id. at 472 (citing Kane v. Aetna Life Ins., 893 F.2d 1283, 1285 (11th Cir.), cert.

denied, 498 U.S. 890 (1990)).
158. Id.
159. Id.
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